
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

Lynchburg Division

ROBERT A. NITTI,

Plaintiff,

Civil Action No.

v.

PENN CREDIT CORPORATION, )
)

Defendant. )

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

COMES NOW Robert A. Nitti, personally, and on behalf of a

class of consumers similarly situated to him, who moves this

Court to grant him judgment for the reasons stated herein.

JURISDICTION

1. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to its federal question

jurisdiction, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and pursuant to the Fair Debt

Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § I692k(d).

PARTIES

2. Plaintiff Robert A. Nitti ("Nitti") is a citizen of

Virginia.

3. Nitti is a consumer within the meaning of the FDCPA, as

defined in 15 U.S.C. § lG92a(3).

4. Defendant Penn Credit Corporation ("Penn") is a Pennsylvania

corporation which regularly conducts business as a debt collector

in this judicial district.

5. The principal purpose of Penn's business is the collection

of debts for its clients, creditors to whom debts are allegedly
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owed by consumers.

6. Penn regularly collects or attempts to collect debts owed or

due or asserted to be owed or due another, and is a "debt

collector" within the meaning of the FDCPA, as defined at 15

U.S.C. § I692a(6).

7. Penn uses one or more instrumentalities of interstate

commerce or the mails in its business, the principal purpose of

which is the enforcement of security interests.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Facts Regarding Nitti.

8. Penn sent to Nitti the "Broken Promise" letters attached as'

Exhibit A, on February 1, 2016. The letters were received by

Nitti sometime after February 1, 2016.

9. Penn's letters were "an attempt to collect a debt." The

letters stated that, "It is important that you either make

payment or contact our office today." The letters listed a total

of 21 debts allegedly owed to the Virginia Department of

Taxation. At least one of the debts was for Virginia individual

income tax that was first assessed more than seven years prior to

the date of the letters.

10. Nitti did not owe the Virginia individual income tax debt

that was listed in the letters because collection of the debt was

time-barred. Va.Code § 58.2-1802.1 provides that the limitations

period for collection of Virginia state taxes is seven years.

The statute states (italics added):

Where the assessment of any tax imposed by this
subtitle has been made within the period of limitation
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properly applicable thereto, such tax may be collected
by levy, by a proceeding in court, or by another means
available to the tax commissioner under the laws of the
commonwealth, but only if such collection effort is
made or instituted within seven years from the date of
the assessment of such tax.

2. Facts Regarding Penn's Regular Practices.

11. Penn regularly sends to Virginia residents collection

letters seeking to attempt to collect time-barred Virginia income

tax debts.

12. Penn is aware that there is a seven-year statute of

limitations for the collection of Virginia individual income tax

liabilities because it has received complaints from other

Virginia residents regarding Penn's attempt to collect time-

barred debts from the complaining Virginia residents.

13. Penn does not investigate, or have any procedure to verify,

whether the Virginia individual income tax debts that it attempts

to collect are time-barred. Under its contract with the Virginia

Department of Taxation, the Virginia Department of Taxation

uploads into a computer system a list of the persons from whom it

seeks to collect tax debts, and Penn sends letters on its

letterhead to those persons, with no intervention by Penn.

ALLEGATIONS REGARDING THE PROPOSED CLASS ACTION

14. Pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure,

Nitti brings this action for himself and on behalf of a class

initially defined as:

The Class

(a) All persons, nationwide, to whom Penn sent,
within the one year preceding the filing of
this Complaint, a letter attempting to
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collect a Virginia individual income tax
liability,

(b) Which was assessed more than seven years
prior to the date of Penn's letter.

15. Numerosity, Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 (a) (1) . Upon information and

belief, the class members are so numerous that joinder of all

class members individually is impractical. The names and

addresses of the class members are identifiable through the

internal business records maintained by Penn and the class

members may be notified of the pendency of this action by

published and/or mailed notice.

16. Predominance of Common Questions of Law and Fact, Fed. R.

Civ. P. 23 (a) (2). Common questions of law and fact exist as to

all members of the putative class. These questions predominate

over the questions affecting only individual class members. The

principal issues are:

(a) Whether Penn is a debt collector;

(b) Whether Penn mailed a letter attempting to
collect individual income tax from members of
the class;

(c) Whether Penn's letters would have misled the
least sophisticated consumer who received the
Notice into believing that the tax debt could
still be collected.

17. Typicality, Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 (a) (3). Nitti's claims are

typical of the claims of each putative class member. In

addition, Nitti is entitled to relief under the same causes of

action as the other members of the putative class. All are based

on the same facts and legal theories.

18. Adequacy of Representation, Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 (a) (4).

4
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Nitti is an adequate representative of the putative class,

because his interests coincide with, and are not antagonistic to,

the interests of the members of the class he seeks to represent;

he has retained counsel competent and experienced in such

litigation; and he has and intends to continue to prosecute the

action vigorously, Nitti and his counsel will fairly and

adequately protect the interests of the members of the Glass.

Neither Nitti nor his counsel have any interests which might

cause him not to vigorously pursue this action.

19. Superiority, Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 (b) (3). Questions of law and

fact common to the class members predominate over questions

affecting only individual members, and a class action is superior

to other available methods for fair and efficient adjudication of

the controversy. The damages sought by each member are such that

individual prosecution would prove too burdensome and expensive

for individual class members to litigate, which would allow Nitti

to continue to violate the law with impunity. It would be

virtually impossible for members of the class individually to

effectively redress the wrongs done to them. Even if the members

of the class themselves could afford such individual litigation,

it would be an unnecessary burden on the courts. Furthermore,

individualized litigation presents a potential for inconsistent

or contradictory judgments and increases the delay ancL expense to

all parties and to the court system presented by the legal and

factual issues raised by defendant's conduct. By contrast, the

class action device will result in substantial benefits to the
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litigants and the Court by allowing the Court to resolve numerous

individual claims based upon a single set of proof in this case,

20. Injunctive Relief Appropriate for the Class, Fed. R. Civ. p.

23 {"-bj (2) . Class certification is appropriate because Penn has

acted on grounds generally applicable to the class, making

appropriate the grant of equitable injunctive relief with respect

to Nitti and the class members.

COUNT ONE

(VIOLATION OF THE FDGPA, 15 U.S.G. § 1692e)

(By Nitti, Personally, and in his capacity as
representative of the Class)

21. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1-20

herein.

22.' Penn's letters were an attempt to collect a debt because the

letters state that, "This is an attempt to collect a debt," and

the letters have no purpose other than to seek to collect payment

from the addressee of the letters.

23. Penn's letters sent to Nitti would have misled the least

sophisticated consumer into believing that Penn and the Virginia

Department of Taxation still had the right to collect the

individual income tax debts listed in the letters, even though

the individual income tax debts were time-barred.

23. Accordingly, Penn violated 15 U.S.C. § I692e by attempting

to collect a debt from Nitti, and each member of the class,

through misleading means. Penn's letters would have been

misleading to the least sophisticated consumer whose individual

income tax debt was time-barred from collection that neither Penn

S
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nor the Virginia Department of Taxation could take any action to

collect the debt if the consumer did not pay the debt.

24. WHEREFORE Nitti, individually, and as class representative,

is entitled to judgment against Penn, is entitled to an

injunction against Penn, permanently enjoining Penn from

violating 15 U.S.C. § I692e by sending collection letters

attempting to collect time-barred Virginia individual income tax

debt, is entitled to an award of statutory damages in the amount

of $1000.00 for himself and for each class member and an award of

his reasonable attorney fees and costs, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §

1692k.

COUNT TWO

(VIOLATION OF THE FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692f)

(By Nitti, Personally, and in his capacity as
representative of the class)

25. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1-20

herein.

26. Penn's letters were an attempt to collect a debt because the

letters state that, "This is an attempt to collect a debt," and

the letters have no purpose other than to seek to collect payment

from the addressee of the letters.

27. Penn's letters were unfair and unconscionable because they

sought to induce the least sophisticated consumer into believing

that such consumer still owed a Virginia individual income tax

debt that could be collected even though more than seven years

had elapsed since the assessment of the tax liability, and the

tax liability was no longer collectable.

7
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28. Penn's letters were unfair and unconscionable because the

letters falsely informed Nitti, and the members of the class,

that the debt was collectable, when the debt was not collectable,

and the letters sought to shame Nitti, and the members of the

class, into paying the debt because they had "broken" their

"promise," even though the statute of limitations to collect the

debt had expired,

29. Accordingly, Nitti violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692f by attempting

to collect a debt and obtain money from Nitti, and each member of

the class, that was not owed, through unfair and unconscionable

means.

30. WHEREFORE Nitti, individually, and as class representative,

is entitled to judgment against Penn, is entitled to an

injunction against Penn, permanently enjoining Penn from

violating 15 U.S.C. § 1692f by sending letters to consumers in an

attempt to collect time-barred Virginia individual income tax

debt, is entitled to an award of statutory damages in the amount

of $1000.00 for himself and for each class member and an award of

his reasonable attorney fees and costs, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §

1692k.

JURY TRIAL

The Plaintiff demands trial by jury.

Respectfully Submitted,

ROBERT A. NITTI

By: 7s/ Gary M. Bowman
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Gary M. Bowman, Esq.
VSB No. 28866
2728 Colonial Ave., Ste.
Roanoke, Virginia 24015
Tel: (540) 343-1173
Fax: (540) 343-1157

100
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EXHIBIT A
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Corporation
Hours: rVion-ThurSam-IOpm EST

Fri sanvspm, Sat 8am-12pm EST

Phone: 5QO-9QQ-1393

02/01/16

CLIENT: Virginia Dept. of Taxation
ID NUMBER: *9BBB8SSE-
TOTAL BALANCE DUE: $155.48

A.GA"

BROKEN PROMISE
You have not'made your payment as promised. It is important that you either make payment or contact our office today

please note the amount referenced above does not include accruing interest. For current balance or payoff please call our
office at the number listed above.

This letter is from a debt collection agency. This Is an attempt to collect a debt. Any information obtained will be used for
that purpose.
SERVICE RENDERED ' SERVICE DATE ACCOUNT NUMBER BAUMCE .
STATEOFVJRGIMIATAXES INOMDUALINCOME " 2003/12/31 *MMMt 5155.48

P . O Box
Oaks-, PA
CHANGE SERVICE REQUESTED

DETACH AMD RETURN WITH PAYMENTTO EXPEDITE CREDITTO YOUR ACCOUNT

Department 11DM7

SPAYING ayViOA.WAETEflOAriDcd CMSCOVER. ftt3.ovroo.mi

nvtwiSE DtlAWBIWflO N"Q DD'BCO -̂ER iCS

'*"

Qr.tUT*

Visit http://accounf.penncredit.com to pay your bill online.

Pavrrmte received by diet* will be electronically deposited, unless you pay by non-consumer type check. You may opt out of this program by paying With a money
ordVor a 5fens chedf. In the unlikely event your chedt (payment) is returned unpaid, we may elect to electronically (or by paper draft) re-present your check
(payment) UP 1° io rriore times. You also understand and agrea that we may collect a return p^ss'ng charee fay the same means, in an amount no! to exceed
thai as permitted by state law. ' . ' ]D NUMBER: Q0040237 02/01/16

lI'l'illllii'illl'MiMll'llnii.lIini'llli'lIJl'lil'l'lllilll!

ROBERT A NITTI

A P P O M A T T O X VA B4SZ2-Qlfl4

PENN CREDIT
m s mth ST
PO BOX ^flfl
HARRIS9URG PA

91203-CBPPA-97Q
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Corporation
Hours: Mon-Thur 8am-1Qpm EST

Fri 8am-8pm, Sat Bam-12prn
Phone: 80G-9Q(M393

02/01/16

CLIENT: Virginia Dept of Taxation
ID

ACA:

TOTAL BALANCE DUE; 386,459.67

BROKEN PROMISE

You have not made your payment as promised. It is important that you either make payment or contact our office today

Piease note the amount referenced above does not include accruing interest. For current balance or payoff please call our
office at the number listed above.

This letter is from a debt collection agency. This is an attempt to collect a debt. Any information obtained will be used for
thai purpose.
SERVICE RENDERED SERVICE DATE ACCOUNT NUMBER' BALANCE
STATE OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATE OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATE OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATH OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATE QF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATE OF VIRGINIA W.ES
STATS OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATE OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATE OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATE OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATE OFVIRGINIATAXES
STATE OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATE OFVIRGINIATAXES
STATS OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATE OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATS OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATE OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATE OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATE OF VIRGINIA TAXES
STATS OF VIRGINIA TAXES

CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT
CONVERTED ASSESSMENT

1899/12/31
1339/12/31
2000/03/31
1393/08/31
1999/09/30
2QOOJ 02/29
1958/12/31
1938/12/31
1990/01/31
19S9/02f2S

1DS9/IH/30
1B39J05/3J
1999/OS/30
1959/12/31
2000/02/29
1999/09/30
1999/09/30
1909mm
2000/02/29

53,657.10
3336.53
5106.95
$79,55
35,285,90
595E.BS
$1,380.83
5115.86
$1.734.39 ,
51,GOO. GO
51.330.69
$2,251.40
51,876.57
$823.15
55,145.05
51,770.76
$20,632,51
$33,319.21
$3,0-11.51

DETACH AND RETURN WITH PAYMENT TO EXPEDITE CREDIT TO YOUR ACCOUNT

p . O Box iHSTi Depar tmen t
Oaksi PA nHSb
CHANGE SERVICE REQUESTED

IFPA1I.4BByVI3A.,J/ASTEnGAn:DOn. DICOOVen, F1L.LQUTBEI.CJVJ

D ÎEE nMATOw^gSS DDIGM«en^
OW.trtTC

Visit http://accountpenncradit.com to pay your bill online,

Payments received by check will be electronically deposited, Unless you pay by non-consumer type check. You rne1/ opt out of this program by paying v;tth amoney
order or a travelers check. In the unlikely event your check (payment) Is returned unpaid, we may elect to electronically (or by paper draft) re-present your check
(payment) up to two more times, you also understand and agree that we may collect a return processing charge by the same means, In an amount not to exceed
that as permitted by state law. - • ID NUMBER: Q0040237 02/01/16

Illl'!' nan-** PENN CREDIT
ROBERT A 'MITTI W S i4th ST

A P P O M A T T O X VA 24522-0104 HARRISBURG PA 171Dfl-mflfl
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